# **RECEIVED**

10-14-2013

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

IN THE MATTER OF THE REFUSAL OF CARL J. OPELT: STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2013 AP 1798

VS.

CARL J. OPELT,

Cir. Ct. Case No. 2013-TR-343

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE FINAL JUDGMENT DATED AUGUST 5, 2013, OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY HONORABLE JON M. COUNSELL, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

Axley Brynelson, LLP Brian C. Hough, SBN 1025056 Attorneys for Carl J. Opelt, Defendant-Appellant

2 East Mifflin Street, Suite 200 Post Office Box 1767 Madison, WI 53701-1767 Phone: (608) 257-5661 Fax: (608) 257-5444

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

At issue is whether the Defendant-Appellant refused a request to submit to a chemical test of his breath when he repeatedly offered to take the test but declined to use the word "yes."

Decided by the circuit court: Yes.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellant states that oral argument is unnecessary. The briefs are expected to fully present and meet the issue on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side so that oral argument would be of such marginal value that it would not justify the additional expenditure of court time or cost to the litigant. Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b).

Publication would be appropriate. The opinion will apply an established rule of law to a factual situation significantly different from that in published opinions. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)2.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant-Appellant, Carl J. Opelt ("Mr. Opelt"), appeals from a decision of Clark County Circuit Court in which the court convicted him of refusing to submit to chemical testing, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9). On February 3, 2013, Officer Bembnister from the City of

Neillsville Police Department, arrested and cited Mr. Opelt for Operating while Impaired, First Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (R. 17: 1-28; R. 10.) Officer Bembnister also cited Mr. Opelt for Refusal, contrary to § 343.305(9). (R. 1.) Mr. Opelt filed a timely request for a refusal hearing. (R. 3.) On June 19, 2013, prior to trial on the OWI charge, the circuit court held a refusal hearing. (R. 17.) The circuit court received testimony from Officer Bembnister, and also received as evidence, among other things, an audio recording and transcript of the alleged refusal. (*Id.*) Following the hearing, the parties filed briefs, and on August 2, 2013, the court issued an opinion convicting Mr. Opelt of Refusal. (R. 9.) On August 5, 2013, Mr. Opelt pled guilty to the OWI charge. (R. 10.) Mr. Opelt filed a notice of appeal on August 8, 2013. (R. 12.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Opelt was arrested for Operating while Impaired. (R. 17.) Following his arrest, Mr. Opelt told the officer he "should take him in or take him wherever [he wants] to take him" or words to that effect. (R. 17:12.) The arresting officer brought Mr. Opelt to Memorial Medical Center in Neillsville for a chemical test. (R.17:12.) From the parking lot, the officer read Mr. Opelt the standard Informing the Accused form.

(R. 17:12-13.) The officer asked Mr. Opelt if he would submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood. (R.17:13.) During the one-minute and forty-nine seconds which followed, Mr. Opelt provided several equivocal or non-responsive answers, such as, "you brought me up to the hospital" (R. 17:17-19,) "I employ 46 people in Neillsville," (R.17:17,) "what do you want me to do" (R.17:18,) and "you tell me what I have to do." (R. 17:18.)

But after one minute and forty-nine seconds, Mr. Opelt clarified that he would be willing to do the blood test. He said, "Well, we can go in there and get a blood test." (R. 17:19; R. 3:2)(emphasis added.) The officer asked, "So, yes you will?" Mr. Opelt responded, "If you want it, then we can do it." (Id.)(emphasis added.) At that point, Mr. Opelt had submitted. Prior to that point, Mr. Opelt had not declined. After that point, the officer continued to probe for either a "yes" or a "no":

- Q: So yes, consider that a yes, that you'll...
- A: No, not consider it a yes, if that's what you need.
- Q: Well, okay. I need you to answer. Here's the question. Okay, will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood? I need a yes or a no answer.
- A: <u>If that's what you need, we'll go do it</u>. Make sure you write that down there that <u>I said that if that's what you need</u>.

(R. 17:19.)(emphasis added).

At that point, Mr. Opelt had reiterated that he would submit to the test, but did not want to use the word yes. After that point, the officer continued probing for a "yes" or "no":

- Q: So are you refusing?
- A: No, I am not refusing. I said if that's what you need, we'll go do it.
- Q: Okay, well, I need a, if that's, I need a "yes" or "no." If you not going to answer yes or no, I'm going to consider it a "no" then.
- A: <u>I am just saying if that's what you need, we'll go do it.</u>
  (R. 17:19-20)(emphasis added.)

By that point, Mr. Opelt had *repeatedly* submitted to the test while choosing words other than "yes." But rather than proceed to testing, the officer continued to probe for a specific "yes" or "no."

- Q: Okay. Last time. I understand, but I can't play this game of
- A: I am not playing your game.
- Q: Okay, I need a "yes" or a "no."
- A: <u>If that's what you need, let's go do it</u>.
- Q: For the last time, if you say, if that's what you need, let's go do it, I'm going to say no.
- A: Make sure you put that on your paper, if that's what you need, let's go do it.
- Q: Are you answering "yes" or "no"?

A: I'm answering <u>if that's what has to be done, let's go do it.</u>
(R. 17: 20)(emphasis added.)

At this point, Mr. Opelt had submitted to the test on nine occasions without using the word yes. The officer continued to push for a "yes" or "no":

- Q: Okay, I want to give you a chance to do it, but if you're not going to say yes or no, no ifs, ands, or buts. It's "yes" or "no." I'm not trying to argue with you either, okay. But I'm telling you, there's no if's ands or buts. It's a yes or no.
- A: I'm saying...
- Q: And I'm going to go with no if you don't want to give a yes or no.
- A: Put that in there if that's what you need, let's go do it.

  (R. 17:20-21)(emphasis added.)

By this point, Mr. Opelt had submitted ten times. It was only after the officer had not accepted Mr. Opelt's ten submissions that Mr. Opelt reverted to equivocal or non-oppositional responses:

- Q: I can't. There's no spot for if and or but. It's a yes or no.
- A: Okay. Put, say...
- Q: I can't write that.
- A: -- maybe. Just put yes.
- Q: Yes. Okay.
- A: No, just don't put no. Don't ever say yes. Just say if that's what --

- Q: That's not the right answer. Okay, there is no if, and or maybe in this section. It is yes or no.
- A: Well, that's –that's your paperwork.
- Q: Yeah, and this is the paperwork that I got to fill out right now. So it is yes or no.
- A: Well, I'm not going to deny you. I'm not going to tell you no.
- Q: So then you're going to say yes.
- A: <u>If that's where we're going, you've got me handcuffed, that's where we're going</u>. You're actually being a nice guy...

(R. 17:21-22)(emphasis added.)

After a few more words, the discussion about the chemical testing ended with Mr. Opelt about not giving up, and the officer responding that he was not asking Mr. Opelt to give anything up. (R. 17:22-23.)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The interpretation of Wisconsin's Implied Consent Law and its application to undisputed facts present questions of law which the Court of Appeals reviews *de novo*. *See State v. Sutton*, 177 Wis. 2d 709, 713, 503 N.W.2d 326, 328 (Ct. App. 1993); *see State v. Reitter*, 227 Wis. 2d 213, 223, 595 N.W. 2d 646 (1999)(citation omitted).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Mr. Opelt did not refuse a request to submit to a chemical test of his blood when he repeatedly agreed to take the test without using the word "yes."

The circuit court's decision finding Refusal should be vacated. The Court of Appeals should find that Mr. Opelt promptly submitted on multiple occasions without refusing. Although Mr. Opelt never used the word "yes," the refusal statute has never required a specific "yes" answer. All that is required is a submission. Because Mr. Opelt submitted, the finding of refusal should be vacated.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court explained the implied consent statute in *State v. Reitter*:

The Wisconsin Legislature enacted the implied consent statute to combat drunk driving. Designed to facilitate the collection of evidence, the law was not created to enhance the rights of alleged drunk drivers. Rather, the implied consent statute was "designed to secure convictions." Given the legislature's intentions in passing the statute, courts construe the implied consent law liberally.

State v. Reitter, 227 Wis. 2d 213, 223-25, 595 N.W. 2d 646 (1999)(citations omitted).

The implied consent/refusal law is relatively straightfoward: When a Wisconsin driver gives implied consent to chemical testing, the driver has

no right to refuse a [chemical] test. *Id.* at 234. A "failure to submit to such a test" constitutes refusal. *State v. Rydeski*, 214 Wis. 2d 101, 106, 571 N.W. 2d 417 (Ct. App. 1997). Thus, conduct that prevents an officer from obtaining a breath sample constitutes a refusal. *Id.* "[O]nce a person has been properly informed of the implied consent statute, that person must promptly submit or refuse to submit to the requested test, and that upon a refusal, the officer may immediately gain possession of the accused's license and fill out the Notice of Intent to Revoke form. *Id.* at 109.

There is nothing in the statute that provides that the only way to submit is by saying the word "yes." *See* § 343.305(9). Likewise, it is well-established that there is nothing in the statute that provides that the only way to refuse is by saying the word "no." Rather, "it is the reality of the situation that must govern, and a refusal in fact, regardless of the words that accompany it, can be as convincing as an express verbal refusal." *Reitter*, 227 Wis. at 234-35. "The conduct of the accused may serve as the basis for a refusal." *Rydeski*, at 106.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Section 343.305(9)(a) of the Wisconsin Statutes provides in part that if a person refuses to take a test under sub. (3)(a), the law enforcement officer shall immediately prepare a notice of intent to revoke, by court order under sub.(10), the person's operating privilege.

Accordingly, if the Refusal statute is applied such that a refusal can occur without use of the word "no," then the Refusal statute should be applied such that a submission can occur without use of the word, "yes." As the Wisconsin Supreme Court explained in *Reitter*, "it is the reality of the situation that must govern." *Id.* In this case, the reality of the situation was that in less than two minutes of being asked to complete a blood test, Mr. Opelt stated, "let's go do it," and he repeated that over and over again. At least by the fourth time Mr. Opelt said, "let's go do it" or words to that effect, Officer Bembnister had an objectively reasonable basis upon which to conclude that Mr. Opelt was willing to complete chemical testing. He should have proceeded to testing without quibbling with a person believed to be impaired over semantics.

It is simply not a refusal to state "let's go do" the test. The fact that Officer Bembnister demanded a response different than, "let's go do it" does not support the conclusion that Mr. Opelt refused to "go do it." The State's reading of the statute would result in refusals where the question, "will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test" is answered with other assenting or permissive responses, such as "sure," or "okay." The reality of the situation is that "sure" and "okay" demonstrate consent, just as much as

the response "yes" or "let's go do it" does. Mr. Opelt's choice of words, in offering to do the test, in no way "prevented the officers from administering the test." *Reitter*, at 237. Thus, there was no refusal.

In the context of a Fourth Amendment search, the standard for measuring the scope of a suspect's consent "is that of 'objective' reasonableness—what would the typical reasonable person have understood by the exchange between the officer and the suspect?" Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 251 (1991). The same standard should apply here. Using this standard, if an objectively reasonable person would have believed, under the totality of the circumstances, that Mr. Opelt consented at some point between the first and seventh time he said, "let's go do it," then he consented. The only fair reading of Mr. Opelt's statements is that when he repeatedly said, "let's go do it," he was willing to go do it. The fact that he did not use the word "yes" does not make it a refusal.

Moreover, the circuit court's findings misconstrue the significance of Mr. Opelt's words. The circuit court found that Mr. Opelt, at best, provided equivocal answers. Admittedly, Mr. Opelt's initial answers were equivocal or uninformative, as were some of his final answers. But after his initial responses, Officer Bembnister offered Mr. Opelt a chance to

submit, which he did. He said "let's go do it" or words to that effect seven consecutive times. It is within those answers that Mr. Opelt submitted, and the officer should have just proceeded with the test. Instead, Officer Bembnister inaccurately told Mr. Opelt that his submissions were inadequate.

This case is not like Rydeski, where the Court of Appeals found the accused had unlawfully refused chemical testing. Rydeski, 214 Wis. 2d at 109. In that case, the accused initially agreed to perform a breath test, but during the 20-miunte observation period, he requested to use the restroom. Id. at 104. He then agreed to wait until the testing was completed. Id. After the 20-minute observation period, the officer asked Rydeski to submit to the test at least five times, "but Rydeski continued to refuse." Id. The officer began to fill out the Notice of Intent to Revoke form. Rydeski protested that he had not refused, and said he would complete the test. Id. The trial court found that although Rydeski did not say he would not take the test, the officer asked him to take it on at least five occasions, but Rydeski "refused to approach the machine." Id. The trial court found that Rydeski did request to take the test after his initial refusal, but there was no obligation of the officer to allow him to do so. Id. The Court of Appeals

affirmed. The Court held that an accused's willingness to submit subsequent to an earlier refusal, does not cure the refusal. *Id.* at 109.

The difference between *Rydeski* and the present case is that Mr. Opelt never refused, either constructively in fact. There were a few moments of equivocating, but there was nothing to cure. This case is therefore not analogous to *Rydeski*.

Nor is this case analogous to *Reitter*. In that case, the defendant stated, "I'm not refusing, I just want to talk to my attorney." *Reitter*, at 221. After repeated requests to submit to testing, the defendant became "very uncooperative," "grew belligerent," and accused the officer of "violating his rights." *Id.* The deputy concluded, "regardless of what I asked him and what I said to him he was not going to take the test." *Id.* The Wisconsin Supreme Court affirmed that this was a "constructive refusal." *Id.* at 237. The court explained that the defendant's words and conduct, "prevented the officers from administering the test." *Id.* 

The facts here are significantly different. Mr. Opelt did not prevent the officer from administering the test; Mr. Opelt repeatedly offered to take the test. The repeated questioning that occurred here was not the result of attempts to obstruct; the repeated questioning that occurred here was the

result of a disagreement over word choice. Mr. Opelt wanted to consent by offering to "go do the test," whereas the officer wanted Mr. Opelt to use the word, "yes."

One of the purposes of the Implied Consent/Refusal statute is to facilitate the efficient administration of chemical testing procedures. The purpose of the law can be achieved if suspects provide a prompt, objective submission to the process, whether the word "yes" is used or not. Officers are able to efficiently conduct law enforcement duties based on objective criteria in many different areas, such as whether to stop, arrest, search, seize, interrogate, etc. An objective consent should be all that is needed here. In this case, under an objective view of the evidence, Mr. Opelt promptly agreed to do the test. His word choices might have been considered imperfect or unsatisfactory to the arresting officer, but from an objective perspective, Mr. Opelt consented to do the test when he repeatedly said, "let's go do it." Mr. Opelt submitted, and he should not, in fairness, be punished for refusing to do what he repeatedly said he would do.

#### CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the Court of Appeals should vacate the finding of refusal. The court should find that Mr. Opelt submitted to the chemical test when he stated repeatedly, "let's go do it."