RECEIVED

11-04-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2013AP001798

IN THE MATTER OF THE REFUSAL OF CARL J. **OPELT:**

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CARL J. OPELT,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE FINAL JUDGMENT DATED AUGUST 5, 2013, OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR **CLARK COUNTY**

HONORABLE JON M. COUNSELL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

RICHARD R. LEWIS **Assistant District Attorney** State Bar No. 1003403

Clark County District Attorney 517 Court St., Room 404 Neillsville, WI 54456 (715) 743-5167 richard.lewis@da.wi.gov

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

ISSUE PRESENTED

DID MR. OPELT "REFUSE" A BLOOD TEST UNDER THE IMPLIED CONSENT LAW?

The Circuit Court ruled "yes".

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is requested. The case involves the application of existing case law to the facts of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 3, 2013, during the early morning hours, City of Neillsville Police Officer Aaron Bembnister arrested Carl J. Opelt for Operating While Intoxicated. (17:11) Officer Bembnister transported Carl Opelt to the Neillsville Memorial Medical Center and read the standard "Informing the Accused" form to Mr. Opelt. This was done in the squad car in the parking lot of the hospital. (17:12-13) A copy of the "Informing the Accused" form was presented and marked as Exhibit 1 at the Refusal Hearing conducted in Clark County Circuit Court on June 19, 2013. (4:1) One line of that form appears as follows:

Will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your ______? □ Yes □ No breath/blood/urine

Officer Bembnister recorded the conversation between Mr. Opelt and himself which took place immediately after Officer Bembnister's question, "Will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood?" The recording was marked as an exhibit (5:1), as was a partial

transcript of the recording (6:1-5). The conversation between Mr. Opelt and Officer Bembnister was also taken down by the court reporter at the Refusal Hearing. (17:17-22) The portion offered to the court starts at 29 minutes and 49 seconds (17:17) into the recording and ends at 36 minutes and 7 seconds (17:22). Therefore, the conversation about taking the test lasts over 6 minutes.

The officer's first request for a chemical test of Mr. Opelt's blood (17:17) is as follows:

Officer: Will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood?

Defendant: You brought me up to the hospital.

The second request (17:17):

Officer: Yeah. But I need you to –will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood?

Defendant: You brought me up here to the hospital. You know I employ 46 people in Neillsville.

The officer continues on a third request (17:17-18):

Officer: Uh-hum (indicating yes). But I need to know if you will submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood?

Defendant: What – what do you want me to do?

The officer's fourth request (17:18):

Officer: Okay. So now will you submit to an

evidentiary chemical test of your blood?

Defendant: I guess, no, yeah, whatever.

Officer: Yes, you will; or no, you won't?

Defendant: What do you want me to do?

Officer: I can't give legal advice, I am not an attorney. All I can do is read this and then ask you if you will or not submit.

The officer then goes to a fifth request (17:18-19):

Officer: I - I can't answer that. Okay. I need you to tell me if you are going to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood?

Defendant: Well, you took me to the hospital.

The sixth exchange is when the defendant does say that we can go in there and get a blood test. (17:19) It is as follows:

Defendant: Well, we can go in there and get a blood test.

Officer: So yes, you will?

Defendant: If you want it, we can do it.

Officer: So yes, okay. Consider that a yes, that you will –

Defendant: No, not consider it a yes, if that's what you need.

At some point after the first six inquiries, the conversation does go as follows: (17:21)

Defendant: Maybe. Just put yes.

Officer: Yes. Okay.

Defendant: No, just don't put no. Don't ever say yes.

The indirect answers continued for quite awhile, amounting to over six minutes. The officer finally

marked this as a refusal and the circuit court found it to be a refusal as well.

The Circuit Court indicated, "Defendant's remaining answers consist of failures to answer, equivocations, obfuscations, denials, attempts to trick the officer into making the decision for him, or thinly veiled threats/attempts at influence." (9:1)

ARGUMENT

I. MR. OPELT'S ANSWERS TO THE OFFICER'S REQUEST UNDER THE IMPLIED CONSENT LAW CONSTITUTED A REFUSAL.

In State v. Rydeski, 214 Wis.2d 101, 571 N.W.2d 417 (Ct. App. 1997), the defendant was found to have unlawfully refused a breath test. Under the Administrative Code, officers must observe a person for 20 minutes immediately prior to the test to make sure they have not vomited, regurgitated, smoked, or consumed alcohol. In *Rydeski*, the defendant wanted to go to the bathroom, unattended. The officers told him that he could either wait until the breath test was done or go to the bathroom while attended by an officer. The defendant was told that several times and became agitated and insisted on using the bathroom immediately without supervision. The Appellate Court further stated:

"Based on *Neitzel* and the language of the implied consent statute, we conclude that once a person has been properly informed of the implied consent statute, that person must PROMPTLY submit or refuse to submit to the requested test, and that upon a refusal, the officer may "immediately" gain possession of the accused's license and fill out the Notice of Intent to Revoke form." (emphasis provided) *Id.* p. 109

It is the State's position that Mr. Opelt did not PROMPTLY submit to the test. In fact, he never really submitted at all. His statements of "never say yes" continued throughout the six minute period.

The Supreme Court has also addressed the issue in *State v. Reitter*, 227 Wis.2d 213, 595 N.W.2d 646 (1999). In *Reitter*, the defendant was arrested and was read the Informing the Accused under the Implied Consent Law. When requested to take a breath test, the defendant would repeatedly say, "I want to call my attorney." The officer indicated that on five exchanges Reitter gave the same answer, and on five occasions the officer explained that he needed a yes or no answer to his question. At one point, the defendant said, "I'm not refusing, I just want to talk to my attorney." Due to the length of time that passed and due to the defendant's failure to answer yes or no, it was deemed to be a refusal and it was upheld by the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court stated:

"The implied consent law does not require a verbal refusal. Rydeski 214 Wis.2d at 106, 571 N.W.2d 417. Rather, the conduct of the defendant may constitute an unlawful refusal. Id. Conduct that is "uncooperative" or that prevents an officer from obtaining a breath sample results in refusal. Id. "It is the reality of the situation that must govern, and a refusal in fact, regardless of the (p. 235) words that accompany it, can be as convincing as an express verbal refusal." Borzyskowski, 123 Wis.2d at 192, 366 N.W.2d 506 (quoting Beck v. Cox, 597 P.2d 1335, 1338 (Utah 1979)). Thus, where a defendant's only conduct is an insistence on using the restroom, and the officer repeats the request to administer the test "at least five times," the failure to submit constitutes a refusal. Rydeski, 214 Wis.2d at 107, 571 N.W.2d 417. Id. p. 234-235

Later, the Supreme Court found as follows:

"In this case, Reitter contends he never "articulated a refusal", on the contrary, he told Deputy Roscizewski "I'm not refusing." But Reitter's actions ring louder than his articulated words, and regardless of his words, he refused in fact. Like the Rydeski defendant, Reitter engaged in at least five exchanges with the deputies and prevented the officers from administering the test. Like the Neitzel defendant, Reitter listened to repeated readings of the "Informing the Accused" form and was warned that his conduct could result in a refusal. Nonetheless, Reitter refused to answer Deputy Sipher's repeated question. Reitter was uncooperative and belligerent. Both Deputy Sipher and Deputy Roscizewski correctly concluded that Reitter had no plans to take the test until he had an opportunity to speak with his attorney." Id. p. 237

It is an interesting comparison that in the *Reitter* case the defendant would not answer the "yes or no" question five times. That's the exact number of times Mr. Opelt would not give a clear yes or no answer.

Because Mr. Opelt would not give a clear answer over a six minute time period, his equivocations constituted a refusal. The main argument that Mr. Opelt makes in his brief is that if conduct can be grounds for a refusal, conduct should also be grounds for consent. The State does not agree that his comments about "let's go do it" were clear enough to constitute consent.

However, there is a significant difference between conduct constituting a refusal and conduct constituting consent. If there is consent, there is going to be a warrantless search of a person's body for blood. Further, if an officer instructs medical personnel to draw blood, and the defendant has not actually consented, there could be both civil and criminal liability. Not only could a defendant sue the police officer in civil court, the defense could also move to suppress the blood test results in the operating while intoxicated case. "Consent" is an

exception to the warrant requirement for a search. However, that consent must be "clear and convincing." If contested in court, the burden is on the State to show by clear and convincing evidence that consent to a warrantless search was "freely and voluntarily" given. See US v Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497(1980); St v Mazur, 90 Wis.2d 293, 280 N.W.2d 194(1979); St v Fillyaw, 104 Wis.2d 700, 312 N.W.2d 795(1981). Therefore, a well trained officer knows that if the officer is relying on "consent" as a theory of admissibility, it must be clear and convincing that the consent was freely and voluntarily given. Perhaps that is why the standard Implied Consent Form has a box for yes and a box for no, and only those two choices.

The purpose of the Implied Consent Law is to facilitate in the gathering of evidence for intoxication. As pointed out in *Scales v State*, 64 Wis.2d 485, 219 N.W.2d 286, 292(1974):

"The refusal to actually submit to such tests can result in revocation of the license. It was intended to facilitate the taking of tests for intoxication and not to inhibit the ability of the State to remove drunken drivers from the highway. In light of that purpose, it must be liberally construed to effectuate its policies."

CONCLUSION

As indicated in *State v. Rydeski*, a person must PROMPTLY submit or refuse a test under the Implied Consent Law. In *State v. Reitter*, the test was refused five times because the defendant wanted to talk to an attorney. It was found to be a refusal. Mr. Opelt would not answer yes or no at least five times and this constituted a refusal. The Implied Consent Form, which law enforcement officers use, has a box they can check

for no and a box they can check for yes. There are two boxes because the choice must be clear and convincing.

For the reasons set forth above, it is requested that the Court uphold the ruling of the Circuit Court.